#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC12-2468

TIMOTHY W. FLETCHER,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\*

# A CAPITAL APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY

#### CRIMINAL DIVISION

\*

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ Specially Appointed Public Defender for Timothy W. Fletcher

LAW OFFICES OF J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ 6367 Bird Road Miami, Florida 33155 (305) 667-4445 (305) 667-4118 (FAX)

## **Oral Argument Requested**

Appellant, Timothy W. Fletcher, respectfully requests oral argument in this capital appeal.

#### **

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Appellant was the Defendant in the trial court and Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, the pre-trial transcripts, the trial transcripts and the sentencing transcripts.

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appeal jurisdiction in this case. Defendant was sentenced to death. Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides that the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction of final orders of courts imposing sentences of death. See also §921.141(4), Florida Statutes.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Guilt Phase**

Defendant Timothy W. Fletcher was charged by Indictment with one count of escape, by unlawfully escaping from confinement while a prisoner at the Putnam County Jail on April 15, 2009, contrary to §944.40, Florida Statutes [Count I]; one count of grand theft of a motor vehicle, by taking a motor vehicle, the property of Todd Lewis, on April 15, 2009, contrary to §§812.014(1) and (2)(c)6, Florida Statutes [Count II]; one count of first degree murder by killing Helen Key Googe, by blunt trauma to the head and manual strangulation, on April 15, 2009, perpetrating the killing from a premeditated design and/or while engaged

in the commission of a home invasion robbery, contrary to §782.04(1), Florida Statutes [Count III]; one count of home invasion robbery, by unlawfully entering a dwelling with an intent to commit a robbery and taking currency and other property from Helen Key Googe, on April 15, 2009, contrary to §812.135, Florida Statutes [Count IV]; and one count of grand theft of a motor vehicle, by taking a motor vehicle the property of Helen Key Googe, on April 15, 2009, contrary to §8812.014(1) and (2)(c)6, Florida Statutes. [Count V]. (R. 7-8; R. 44-45). The State filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (R. 65).

#### Preliminary Proceedings

Prior to trial, the defense filed a motion to suppress his post-arrest statement. (R. 490-491). The defense also objected to the consolidation of offenses for trial involving two separate automobile burglaries. (R. 493). The defense also filed a motion *in limine* requesting that no mention be made of the offenses on which Defendant was serving jail time when he escape from Putnam County Jail. (R. 495-496). Defendant also filed another motion *in limine* requesting that no mention be made of uncharged criminal activity, including grand theft auto allegations and plans by Defendant and Doni Brown to flee to Mexico. (R. 497-498). The defense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defendant was also charged by Information in Case No. 2009-0807CF52 with burglary of a motor vehicle, the property of Sanford Doug Neely, with the intent to commit a theft, on April 15, 2009, contrary to §810.02(1), Florida Statutes (R. 50), and by Information in Case No. 2009-0806CF52 with burglary of a motor vehicle, the property of Justin McKinney, with the intent to commit theft, on April 15, 2009, contrary to §810.02(1), Florida Statutes (R. 49).

amended this motion later to add that no mention should be made of the fact that Defendant and his co-defendant were in jail on an unrelated charge of robbery when they escaped. (R. 569-571). Defendant also filed a motion for severance of the counts charged in the Indictment. In particular, Defendant argued that he should be tried for the escape charge, in Count I, separately, and that he should be charged for grand theft, in Count II, separately. The events concerning these charged offenses in the Indictment were temporarily and physically separate from the other counts. (R. 499-500).

Prior to trial, the defense also objected to the consolidation of offenses for trial involving the two separate automobile burglaries. Defendant maintained that severance was appropriate to promote a fair determination of his guilt or innocence. Moreover, the defense argued that the charges in the Indictment were temporarily and physically separate from the case and from each other. (R. 493; R. 647-648). The defense also filed a memorandum on disputed sections of Defendant's police interview. The defense pointed out those sections of the statement which ought to be redacted. (R. 608-610; R. 698-700). One particular section dealt with Defendant having just been sentenced to 10 years prison. The defense pointed out that this was unduly prejudicial under §90.403, Florida Statutes. (R. 609; R. 700). The State filed a response to the motion on the disputed

sections. (R. 668-670). As to Defendant's ten-year sentence, the State argued that the evidence was relevant to show Defendant's motive for escaping. (R. 670).

On May 10, 2012, the trial court conducted a hearing on the pre-trial motions. Det. Mark Andrews testified on Defendant's motion *in limine*. (R. 1414-1432). Subsequently, Det. Doug Schwall testified on Defendant's motion to suppress. (R. 1452-1464). The parties presented arguments on the motion to suppress. (R. 1465-1477). The Court entertained argument on Defendant's motion to sever. (R. 1481-1497). The Court also considered argument on Defendant's motion *in limine* regarding other crimes evidence. (R. 1506-1514). The Court, thereafter, entered an order denying Defendant's motion to sever offenses. (R. 684-686). The Court also entered an order denying Defendant's motion to suppress statement. (R. 687-689). Finally, the Court entered orders on the various motions *in limine*. (R. 690-692). The defense also filed numerous penalty phase motions. The Court entered several orders denying Defendant's motions. (R. 340-349).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court conducted a proceeding on the perpetuated testimony of Thomas Buongiorne. Ultimately, the video-tape of Mr Buongiorne's perpetuated testimony was played for the jury.

These motions were: Memorandum of law and Argument concerning the unconstitutionality of Florida's death penalty under Ring v. Arizona (R. 158-185); Motion to Declare Florida's Death Penalty Unconstitutional (R. 186-201); Motion to Declare Florida's Death Penalty Unconstitutional because Section 921.141, Florida Statute, and the Standard Jury Instructions cast a heightened standard of persuasion on the Defendant to obtain a life sentence (R. 202-220); Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional as written and as applied (R. 221-248); Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(d), Florida Statutes,

#### The Trial

Trial commenced in the cause on May 21, 2012. The court began voir dire. (R. 1592). The jury was selected and sworn. (R. 2439). The court gave the jury preliminary instructions. (R. 2439-2448; R. 714-720). The State presented an opening statement. (R. 2448-2468). Defendant's counsel thereafter presented opening statement. (R. 2469-2475). At trial, the State called numerous witnesses in its case-in-chief. Following testimony of DNA examiner Maria Lam, the State rested its case. (R. 3257).

Defendant presented his arguments on motions for judgments of acquittal.

(R. 3258-3259). The court denied the motion. (R. 3260). The defense announced

Unconstitutional as written and applied (R. 249-253); Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(e), Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional as written and applied (R. 254-260); Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(f), Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional as written and applied (R. 290-294); Motion to Declare Florida's Death Penalty and Section 921.141, Florida Statute, Unconstitutional (Faulty Appellate Review)

(R. 295-325); Motion to Declare Section 921.141(1), Florida Statute, Unconstitutional and to Bar State's Use of Hearsay Evidence at Penalty Phase (R. 326-330; R. 331-335); Motion for Interrogatory Penalty Phase Verdict (R. 336-339); Renewed Motion to Declare Florida Statute 921.141 Unconstitutional per Ring v. Arizona (R. 394-489); Objections to Standard Jury Penalty Phase Jury Instructions (R. 510-539); Motion to Declare §921.141(7), Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional and for Pretrial Determination of Admissibility of all victim impact evidence under §§90.104(2), 90.105, 90.403, Florida Statutes or, alternatively, that victim impact evidence be presented only at a Spencer hearing (R. 814-823); Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes,

Unconstitutional as applied (R. 824-828).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On May 10, 2012, the Court considered Defendant's renewed motion on <u>Ring</u> grounds, relying on the federal district court's decision in <u>Evans v. McNeil</u>. The Court ruled that it was bound by rulings of the Florida Supreme Court and the rulings of the United States Supreme Court. (R. 1520-1523).

it would not present any evidence. The court asked Defendant if he desired to testify and Defendant stated that he did not want to testify or call any witnesses. Defendant stated he was satisfied with the witnesses called. (R. 3160-3162; R. 3260-3261). The court conducted a charge conference. (R. 3141-3171). The defense rested its case. (R. 3265; R. 3266). Defendant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (R. 3265). Subsequently, counsel for the State presented closing argument. (R. 3283-3290). Counsel for the State presented a rebuttal closing argument. (R. 3290-3302).

The court instructed the jury. (R. 3302-3357; R. 733-778). The jury retired to deliberate. (R. 3357). Thereafter, the court reconvened to consider the jury's verdicts. Defendant was found guilty on all counts as charged in the indictment and both informations. (R. 3364-3367; R. 728-732). The jury was polled. (R. 3367-3369). The court instructed the jury to return for the penalty phase. (R. 3369).

#### **Penalty Phase**

At the penalty phase, the Court gave the jury preliminary instructions. (R. 3386-3387). The State presented an opening statement. (R. 3387-3393). The defense presented its opening statement. (R. 3393-3398). The State called David Sanders, PCSD, who testified about comparing Defendant's fingerprints with the

conviction record. (R. 3398-3403). The State also called Randall Key, the victim's brother, who read a letter on behalf of the family in connection with victim impact. (R. 3407-3409). Thereafter, the State rested its case. (R. 3409). The defense called Dr. Harry Krop, a licensed psychologist. (R. 3410). After Dr. Krop's testimony, the defense called Donna Bailey, a mental health specialist at Suwanne Correctional Institution. (R. 3477). After Ms. Bailey's testimony, the Court conducted a charge conference on the penalty phase instructions. The defense reiterated its objections to some of the instructions. (R. 3493-3499). The defense called Jeffrey Fletcher, Defendant's brother (R. 3506), and Ricky Fletcher, Defendant's father. (R. 3522). Thereafter, the defense rested its case. (R. 3537). Defendant was questioned by the court about his decision not to testify. (R. 3538; R. 3545). The State called Dr. Gregory Prichard, a licensed psychologist, in rebuttal. (R. 3547). At the conclusion of Dr. Prichard's testimony, the State rested its rebuttal case. (R. 3625). After the jury was excused for the day, the Court denied Defendant's pending motion against the prior felony/sentence of imprisonment aggravating circumstance. (R. 3628-3629). The court completed the charge conference. The defense reiterated its constitutional objections to the instructions. The defense also objected to the giving of the financial gain and EHAC instructions. The Court overruled the defense objections. The defense also reiterated its objections to the verdict form on grounds that there needs to be a

unanimous finding for an aggravating circumstance. Additionally, the defense requested that the life recommendation precede the death recommendation on the verdict form. The Court denied the objection and the request. (R. 3630-3641).

The prosecution presented a penalty phase argument. (R. 3649-3670). The defense presented its penalty phase argument. (R. 3670-3690). The court instructed the jury. (R. 3690-3706; R. 832-841). After deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending a death sentence by a vote of 8-4 as to Count 3. The jury was polled. (R. 3707-3711; R. 813). The court ordered a presentence investigation report. (R. 3715-3716; R. 843-844).

#### **The Spencer Hearing and Final Order**

On July 25, 2012, the court conducted the final sentencing hearing, pursuant to Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993). (R. 1387-1408). The State called Douglas Cruz, who read a victim impact statement from the victim's brother and nephew. (R. 1389-1393). Defendant read a prepared statement. (R. 1398-1404; R. 848-854). The State presented a sentencing memorandum. (R. 863-887). The defense presented a sentencing memorandum. (R. 888-905; R. 906-928).

On October 12, 2012, the Court issued its sentencing order. (R. 929-954).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court found four (4) aggravating circumstances: heinous, atrocious and cruel; financial gain; commission during a robbery; commission of offense by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence. (R. 935-939). The Court found the two aggravators of financial gain and commission during a robbery as one aggravating circumstance. (R. 937). The Court considered and

weighed Defendant's mitigating circumstances. The Court gave the statutory mitigating factor of age minimal weight. (R. 941). The Court gave little weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant suffered from physical abuse from his alcoholic father (R. 942), moderate weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant suffered from chronic addiction to drugs in the past (R. 943), little weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant has been treated for and suffers from depression (R. 943), slight weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant has been treated for post-traumatic stress disorder (R. 944), some weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant previously witnessed his mother being physically abused by his father as a child (R. 944), little weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant has attempted suicide in the past (R. 944-945), no weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant has been treated in the past for bi-polar disorder (R. 945), little weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant has responded well to counseling while at the Suwanne Correctional Institution (R. 946), very little weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant had reported to law enforcement that he had been up all night before the escape consuming methamphetamines in the jail (R. 946-947), some weight to the nonstatutory mitigating factor that Defendant obtained his GED while incarcerated (R. 947-948), some weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant comes from a dysfunctional family (R. 948), little weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant's mother died when he was 18 years of age and that he had a close relationship with her (R. 948), slight weight to the non-statutory mitigating factor that Defendant has artistic ability (R. 949), and, in conclusion, some weight to Defendant's statement of apology, some weight to Defendant's good behavior during trial, moderate weight to Defendant's cooperation with police, and great weight to Donnie Brown's sentence of life imprisonment. (R. 949-950). As to this last factor, the Court pointed out that the evidence suggested that Defendant was the leading offender in the case. (R. 950-951).

In sum, the court gave the jury verdict of 8-4 great weight. (R. 951). Additionally, the Court announced it had independently considered and weighed the mitigating circumstances against the aggravating circumstances. The Court ruled that the mitigating circumstances pale in comparison to the strength of the aggravating circumstances. (R. 952). The Court found that the aggravating circumstances greatly outweighed the mitigating circumstances. Moreover, the Court stated that even in the absence of the first two aggravating circumstances, the remaining aggravating circumstance, that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, is so strong that it, standing alone, would far outweigh the mitigating circumstances. (R. 952).

The Court sentenced Defendant to death on Count III, to run consecutive to any active sentences he was serving. The Court also sentenced Defendant to 15 years on Count I (escape), 5 years on Count II (grand theft of a motor vehicle), 30 years on Count IV (home invasion robbery), 5 years on Count V (grand theft of a motor vehicle), 5 years on Count I of the consolidated information in Case No. CF09-806 (burglary of a conveyance), and 5 years on Count I of the consolidated information in Case No. CF09-807). (R. 952-953; R. 1009-1017; R. 3718-3725). The Court ordered that the sentences in Counts I, II, IV and V of the indictment to run consecutive to any active sentence Defendant was serving, and ordered the sentences in Case Nos. CF09-806 and CF09-807 to run consecutive to any active sentence Defendant was serving. Moreover, the Court ordered all sentences in Count I-V of the Indictment and Count I of the consolidated informations to run concurrent with each other. (R. 953; R. 1009-1017; R. 3718-3725).<sup>6</sup> The Court entered an order denying Defendant's motion for new trial. (R. 955-958).

Defendant filed a notice of appeal. (R. 1022). This appeal follows.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### **Guilt Phase**

At trial, the State called Deputy Charles Word, Putnam County Sheriff's Department (PCSD), who testified that on April 14, 2009, he was working at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A sentencing guidelines scoresheet was prepared. (R. 1006-1008).

Putnam County Jail. After he began his shift at 11:30 P.M., Word began checking the cells in B-pod. (R. 2476-2480). Deputy Word explained that fifteen cells are included in each cellblock. Each cellblock contains 25 to 30 inmates. Word knew inmates Timothy Fletcher and Doni Brown were in the cell 76 of the cellblock. During his check, Word saw both Fletcher and Brown. (R. 2483-2487). Word identified photographs from a video. Both Fletcher and Brown were in one of the photographs. (R. 2490-2491). Early the next morning, Officer Leland Evans conducted a cell check. Meanwhile, Word prepared the inmates' breakfast. As Word was conducting his own inmate count, he did not see either Fletcher or Brown. He entered the cell and found that the linen and stuffing were shaped as bodies. He noticed a hole in the window. He also saw an apparent exit route. (R. 2493-2500).

Deputy Tommy Underwood, PCSD, testified that he processed cell 76. He noticed there was damage to the commode-sink combination. There was a hole on the window screen. He also saw a jack handle on the floor. Underwood photographed the cell. Underwood described the photographs to the jury. He also pointed out that there was a razor blade. The jack handle was introduced into evidence. (R. 2516-2526). Underwood testified that the commode-sink combination had been pulled out from the wall. Underwood described and reviewed photographs of the damage done to the wall area. (R. 2527-2529).

Underwood inspected the outside of the building. He found another piece of a jack handle outside the cell. This piece was introduced into evidence. (R. 2530-2532).

Officer Steven Faulkner, PCSD, testified that in April, 2009, he worked as a bailiff transporting inmates to court. Faulkner transported Timothy Fletcher to court on April 14, 2009 from the Putnam County Jail at around 7:30 or 8 in the morning. (R. 2533-2536). Faulkner described the van he drove the inmates in between the jail and the courthouse. (R. 2536-2538). Additionally, Faulkner testified that he transported Defendant back to the jail from the courthouse. He reviewed a video tape of the sally port area where inmates are unloaded in the transportation process. Faulkner described certain policies and procedures he needed to follow when transporting inmates, including the separation of juveniles from adults and separation of male and female inmates. (R. 2539-2542). Faulkner recalled Defendant telling him that he would rather ride in the back of the van. (R. 2550). After he unloaded Defendant, Faulkner did not see anything unusual. (R. 2554-2555). Faulkner described Defendant wearing a plastic boot or case on his left leg and a tennis shoe on his right leg. (R. 2555). Faulkner later inspected his van and did not see anything out of place. (R. 2556). The following morning, Faulkner learned that Defendant and Doni Brown had escaped from the Putnam County Jail. (R. 2556-2557). At that point, Faulkner checked his van to see if his

jack was there. He noticed it was gone. (R. 2558-2559). Faulkner identified the jack in evidence as just like the one kept in the van. (R. 2559).

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