IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY W. FLETCHER,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-2468

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MITCHELL D. BISHOP ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 43319 Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 E-Service: CapApp@MyFloridaLegal.com E-Mail: Mitchell.Bishop@myfloridalegal.com (386) 238-4990 (Phone) (386) 226-0457 (FAX) COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Additionally, the trial court properly instructed the that "each crime and the evidence applicable to it must be considered separately and a separate verdict returned as to each . . . a finding of guilty or not guilty as to one crime must not affect your verdict as the other crimes charged." (V22, R3352). Under these circumstances, joinder of the seven offenses was appropriate. Severance was not necessary to achieve a fair determination of Fletcher's guilt because the joined offenses would have been admissible as collateral crime evidence to the other

charges in the indictment to establish the context from which this crime spree arose.

D. Appellant's Case Law is Distinguishable

The cases cited by Appellant to support his argument are inapposite to the controlling cases cited above that support a denial of severance. *See generally Garcia v. State*, 568 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1990) (four pairs of murders were improperly consolidated where they occurred over a three month period and evidence was insufficient to establish a common scheme); *Crossley v. State*, 596 So. 2d 447, 450 (Fla. 1992) (two separate and independent robberies that did not have a meaningful relationship to one anther were improperly joined). Furthermore, *Sosa v. State*, 639 So. 2d 173, 174 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994) is inapplicable because the trial court specifically ruled that the felony conviction for which Fletcher was in lawful custody would not be admissible. Accordingly, Appellant's case law is inapplicable and distinguishable.

E. Harmless Error

Even if the burglaries should not have been joined, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, *DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d at 1129, for the same reasons the trial court found that the defendant was not prejudiced by the denial of severance. All of the offenses that occurred during the Defendant's course of criminal conduct on the morning on April 15, 2009 would have been admissible as collateral crime

evidence of the principal crimes in the indictment—the murder and home invasion robbery.

ISSUE VI: WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S PENALTY PHASE ARGUMENTS DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF A FAIR SENTENCING PROCEDURE

During the State's penalty phase closing argument, the prosecutor argued without objection, "What is the appropriate sentence for someone who, just three days after her murder, refers to her with -- by terms such as bitch, ignorant, dumbass?" (V22, R3651). Later, addressing the weight the jury should give to the proffered mitigation, the prosecutor argued without objection,

I submit to you a lot of people have drug addictions. Most of them do not murder other people. . . . A lot of people are depressed, but they don't go and murder other people. . . . Now, there's a lot of people who come from tough circumstances, abusive families, but they, too, most of them, do not go and murder other people. . . . A lot of people have artistic ability, but they don't murder other people. (V22, R3663, 3664, 3669).

The Appellant claims that the prosecutor's first argument was an improper reference to the Defendant's lack of remorse. (*Initial Brief* at 77). The Appellant argues that the prosecutor's second argument improperly denigrates the Defendant's mitigation. (*Initial Brief* at 78).

A. The Standard of Appellate Review

Failing to raise a[n] objection waives any claim for appellate review. *Mosley*, 46 So. 3d at 519 (Fla. 2009). Absent fundamental error, appellate review is

precluded. Crump, 622 So. 2d at 972.

B. Case Law Supporting the State

"Lack of remorse is unquestionably an improper aggravator." *Silvia v. State*, 60 So. 3d 959, 976 (Fla. 2011). Counsel, however, is permitted wide latitude in arguing about the evidence before the jury. *Moore v. State*, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 2001) (where the state argued that much of the defendant's mitigation—supportive family, good grades, active athlete, had a normal life—was actually aggravating). *See also Braddy*, 111 So. 3d at 854 (prosecutor's argument that defense counsel was "screaming about the aggravation" to "detract from what was written in stone" was improper denigration of defense but not fundamental error). For prosecutorial comments that are improper, reversal is not automatic. *Hayward v. State*, 24 So. 3d 17, 42-43 (Fla. 2009) (finding no fundamental error in prosecutor's improper penalty phase argument comparing the defendant's life choices to the victim's).

First, the prosecutor's argument that discussed Fletcher referring to the victim in derogatory terms was not an implied "lack of remorse" argument. The record—even as cited by the Appellant—flatly refutes the Appellant's claim. The prosecutor recounted what the Defendant said about the victim as he rhetorically discussed what the appropriate sentence should be. The prosecutor's argument did not place an aggravating label on mitigating evidence. The prosecutor provided a

basis for the jury to give the mitigation less weight based on the circumstances.

C. Appellant's Case Law, Not Applicable

The case Appellant cites are distinguishable from this case. In *Walker v. State*, 707 So. 2d 300, 314 (Fla. 1997), the prosecutor called the defense experts "hired guns" and violated the "golden rule" in argument—inviting the jury to place themselves in the victim's position and imagine their suffering. This Court found, however, that the arguments did not constitute fundamental error. *Id. Cf. Brooks v. State*, 762 So. 2d 879, 904 (Fla. 2000) (new penalty phase required when prosecutor committed numerous instances of misconduct that were objected to, including a golden rule violation, personal attacks on defense counsel, prosecutorial expertise argument, and inflammatory descriptions of the victim's death). *See also Delhall*, 95 So. 3d at 167-168 (prosecutor called the mitigation "excuses" and argued that the defendant "can't be fixed" and the defense objected, the comments required reversal).

Different from the cases cited by the Appellant, the prosecutor's arguments in this case were either not improper or they do not rise to the level of fundamental error. Unlike many of the Appellant's cited cases where the defense objected, Fletcher's claims are unpreserved and must rise to the level of vitiating the entire trial. Like in *Hayward*, this Court has held that arguments comparing the victim's and defendant's life choices may be improper, but not fundamental error.

Furthermore, arguing to the jury the defendant's statements about the victim has not been held to be improper.

G. Harmless Error

The state recognizes that a harmless error analysis is inapplicable to a fundamental error analysis. *Haygood v. State*, 109 So. 3d 735, 741 (Fla. 2013). Furthermore, should this Court find that the trial court's action and/or the prosecutor's statement constituted error, but not fundamental, then this issue is precluded from appellate review for lack of preservation. *Crump*, 622 So. 2d at 972.

ISSUE VII: WHETHER NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATING EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED AT THE PENALTY PHASE AND IF SO, WHETHER THE DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO A NEW PENALTY PHASE

Dr. Harry Krop testified for the defense in the penalty phase.³⁰ At the invitation of defense counsel, Krop discussed the criteria of Antisocial Personality Disorder ("ASPD"). Krop discussed Fletcher's conduct disorder as a youth, suspensions from school, and "getting into the criminal system in his adolescent years," as factors that supported the ASPD diagnosis. (V23, R3423). Krop also

Disorder, though he does not suffer from it presently (V23, R3419).

Dr. Krop diagnosed the Defendant with the following: Polysubstance dependence; Chronic insomnia; depressive disorder (situational); and Antisocial Personality Disorder. (V23, R3419-3422). Dr. Krop also noticed in the Defendant's history there being mention of symptoms of Bi-Polar Disorder, though no symptoms presently (V23, R3418) and prior history of Posttraumatic Stress

discussed at length Fletcher's extensive use of illicit drugs, the fact the Fletcher was incarcerated when his mother passed away, and obtaining his GED while he was incarcerated. (V23, R3424-3427, 3439, 3440). On cross-examination, Krop also testified that the Defendant, "had a number of arrests . . . mostly grand theft, burglary, or breaking-and-entering " (V23, R3453).

Dr. Gregory Pritchard testified for the State in rebuttal. Pritchard discussed, without objection, the numerous times that Fletcher had been incarcerated as they related to his evaluation an diagnosis.³¹ (V24, R3554, 3559, 3562). Pritchard also discussed the numerous Department of Corrections ("DOC") records that he reviewed and the DOC mental health providers that had treated the Defendant. (V24, R3555-57). The defense objected when Pritchard began to discuss the specific criminal offenses Fletcher had committed, as early as his teenage years, that supported the ASPD criteria. (V24, R3570-3571).

Out of the presence of the jury, the remainder of Pritchard's testimony was proffered. Pritchard testified about Fletcher's juvenile convictions and the dates of arrest, conviction, sentencing, and release for all of his criminal offenses, without discussing the nature of the specific crimes. (V24, 3576-3578). During the proffer, Pritchard discussed Fletcher's drug use, an armed robbery charge, and his disciplinary record while incarcerated to include gang membership, and a domestic

³¹ Dr. Pritchard diagnosed the Defendant with ASPD, polysubstance dependence, and a depressive disorder (not otherwise specified). (V24, R3559).

violence incident with a girlfriend. (V24, R3581, 3584-3586). During the proffer, Pritchard also discussed the lack of remorse as an ASPD criterion, supported by Fletcher's attitude towards the victim. (V24, R3588). The trial court ruled that Fletcher's pattern of criminal conduct can be discussed without specific references to offenses, lack of remorse can only be mentioned as a criteria of ASPD, and gang membership will not be mentioned. (V24, R3592-3594). When Pritchard testified to the jury that lack of remorse was a criteria of APSD, the court overruled the defense's objection. (V24, R3598).

Pritchard also testified about the Psychopathy Check List-Revised (PLC-R) and after an objection and a proffer, the court permitted testimony as to why the test is important in an evaluation and whether the defense expert should have administered it. (V24, R3612). The State decided to forgo any further questions about the PLC-R and tendered the witness when the jury returned. (V24, R3613). Defense counsel questioned Pritchard numerous times about Fletcher's illicit drug use. (V24, R3614, 3619-3620).

A. The Standard of Appellate Review

A trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *Dessaure v. State*, 891 So. 2d 455, 466 (Fla. 2004). "A motion for a mistrial should only be granted when an error is so prejudicial as

³² The trial court specifically instructed the State that it cannot try to turn a mitigator into an aggravator. (V24, R3596).

to vitiate the entire trial. A trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review." *Silvia*, 60 So. 3d at 975-76.

B. Case Law Supporting the Trial Court's Finding

Lack of Remorse

Questioning a mental health expert about "lack of remorse" as a part of the diagnostic criteria for a mental health diagnosis, does not require reversal, especially when it was not argued to the jury. *Silvia*, 60 So. 3d at 976. Confronting an issue similar to what is raised here, in *Silvia* this Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the State's expert, Dr. Danziger, to testify about lack of remorse as a criteria of ASPD. *Id.* at 975. This Court also pointed out that the prosecutor did not argue lack of remorse to the jury like in other cases where remand was proper. *Id.* at 976.

In this case, the Defendant opened the door to mental health evidence—good and bad. Dr. Krop testified about the defendant's criminal history and the criteria for ASPD. Dr. Pritchard's testimony was offered in rebuttal and was very similar to what the defense had already presented through Dr. Krop. The prosecutor did not argued lack of remorse and the trial court did not mention it in the sentencing order. The trial court directed the State to limit the lack of remorse questions to the diagnostic criteria and nothing more and that is all the State did in questioning both Dr. Krop and Dr. Pritchard.

Defendant's Criminal Record and Future Dangerousness

Mental health experts can testify about a defendant's past criminal conduct during a penalty phase as it relates to the evaluation of the defendant or in rebuttal. Hilton v. State, 117 So. 3d 742, 751 (Fla. 2013). In Hilton, the trial court allowed the State's expert, Dr. Pritchard, to testify about specific instances of the defendant's prior criminal conduct. Id. The testimony was permitted in such specific detail to rebut the theory that the defendant had not gotten into trouble prior to the offense at hand. Importantly, however, this Court ruled that "it must be remembered that there is a different standard for judging the admissibility and relevance of evidence in the penalty phase of a capital case, where the focus is substantially directed toward the defendant's character." Hilton, 117 So. 3d at 751 (quoting Hildwin v. State, 531 So. 2d 124, 127 (Fla. 1988) (emphasis added). Cf. Hitchock v. State, 673 So. 2d 859, 861 (Fla. 1996) (references to defendant's prior felonies without relevant connection to the penalty phase was improper) (*Initial Brief* at 85).

In this case, Dr. Pritchard testified similarly to Dr. Krop, the defense expert, about the Defendant's prior criminal record. After the defense opened the door to mental health evidence, Dr. Pritchard mentioned the criminal record on more occasions as he provided a more thorough explanation of the Defendant's various diagnoses. The trial court ultimately ruled that the State could question Dr.

Pritchard about the criminal record as it related to the diagnoses without going into the specific instances. The State and Dr. Pritchard complied. As this Court stated in *Hilton*, the penalty phase focuses on the Defendant's character and that is exactly what Dr. Pritchard's testimony accomplished.

It is improper to present future dangerousness as aggravation. *Allen v. State*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S592 (Fla. July 11, 2013). Isolated references, however, do not require reversal. *Id.* (where the prosecutor asked two separate cross-examination questions of the defense expert about future dangerousness but the State did not argue it and the trial court instructed the jury on proper aggravation, reversal was not required). While the issue was unpreserved in *Allen*, this Court noted that the isolated questioning about future dangerousness was "less egregious than those warranting reversal when the issue was preserved." *Id. Cf. Delhall v. State*, 95 So. 3d 134, 168 (Fla. 2012) (new penalty phase required where prosecutor argued numerous times with and without objection that the defendant was "dangerous" and "can't be fixed") (*Initial Brief* at 86).

In this case, the State did not ask, and Dr. Pritchard did not testify, about Fletcher's future dangerousness. The State did not offer argument about future dangerousness. Defense counsel thought that Dr. Pritchard's testimony about the PCL-R may go in the direction of future dangerousness and quickly asked for a proffer outside of the jury's presence. After hearing the proffer and argument, the

Court ruled that the PCL-R could be discussed only as a means of evaluating the Defendant and whether the defense expert should have used it. Nonetheless, the State decided to forgo any further questioning to avoid even an ambiguous reference to something improper and tendered the witness to cross-examination when the jury returned. There was no testimony or argument about future dangerousness and therefore, no error.

C. Harmless Error

Error, if any, in the prosecutor's argument or Dr. Pritchard's testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Walker v. State*, 707 So. 2d 300, 314 (Fla. 1997) (finding it harmless error when the prosecutor improperly asked expert whether defendant may kill again [future dangerousness] but the trial court properly instructed the jury and the incident was isolated).

ISSUE VIII: WHETHER THE DEATH PENALTY IN THIS CASE IS PROPORTIONATE

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